43297-8-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

State of Washington
Respondent

v.

JOHN R. GARDNER, JR.
Appellant

43297-8-II

On Appeal from Grays Harbor County Superior Court
Cause number 11-1-00343-7

The Honorable Gordon Godfrey

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**Jordan B. McCabe, WSBA No. 27211
Attorney for Appellant, John R. Gardner, Jr.**

MCCABE LAW OFFICE
PO Box 7424, Bellevue, WA 98008
425-747-0452 ▪ jordan.mccabe@yahoo.com

CONTENTS

I. Authorities Cited ii

II. Assignments of Error and Issues vii–viii

III. Statement of the Case 2

IV. Argument 5

 1. The trial court’s findings are not supported
 by substantial evidence 5

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

A. *Assignments of Error:*

1. The trial court's findings are not supported by substantial evidence and do not support the conclusions of law.
2. The trial court erroneously upheld a search warrant that was issued without probable cause.
3. The trial court erroneously denied Appellant's *Franks*¹ challenge to the warrant affidavit based on false information recklessly or intentionally included in the affidavit.
4. The *Franks* hearing court relied on impermissible inferences in violation of the appearance of fairness doctrine.
5. At Appellant's bench trial on a single count of possession of methamphetamine, the evidence was insufficient to prove constructive possession by means of dominion and control over the premises where drugs were found.
7. At Appellant's bench trial for possession, the court erroneously admitted and considered evidence of uncharged offenses contrary to ER 404(b).

B. *Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error.*

1. Appellant assigns error to the following findings.

A. Suppression

Statement of disputed facts: Did Frank Wirshup tell law enforcement that he had seen methamphetamine in Gardner's motel room and that he had purchased methamphetamine from Gardner in the past? CP 64.

¹ *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 1354, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 (1978).

Finding as to Disputed Facts. Frank Wirshup told law enforcement that he had seen methamphetamine in Gardner’s motel room and had purchased methamphetamine from Gardner in the past and signed a written statement to that [e]ffect. CP 64.

B. Bench Trial

Finding 1, CP 74. The defendant was originally charged with possession with intent to deliver.

Finding 2, CP 74-75. Appellant was residing in the motel room when the police executed the search warrant.

Finding 3, CP 75. The parties stipulated to the admissibility of the methamphetamine.

Finding 3, CP 75. While executing the warrant, the officers found “packaging material ... , a scale... , drug paraphernalia

Finding 3, CP 75. While executing the warrant, “the officers found heroin and oxycodone that the defendant has not been charged with.”

2. The evidence was insufficient prove that Appellant exercised dominion and control over the motel room where drugs were found.
3. The search warrant affidavit failed to establish that hearsay statements from three informants met the *Aguilar Spinelli* test for basis of knowledge and credibility.
4. The affidavit failed to establish a basis of knowledge for the primary informant.
5. The affidavit failed to establish the primary informant’s credibility
6. The affidavit failed to establish a basis of knowledge for the secondary informants.
7. The affidavit failed to establish the secondary informants’ credibility.

Issues, cont.

8. The trial court failed to adequately address Appellant's Franks motion.
9. The court violated the appearance of fairness doctrine by basing its *Franks* ruling on impermissible inferences.
10. After striking the objectionable material, the affidavit is insufficient to support a search warrant.
11. The trial court admitted irrelevant and prejudicial evidence in violation of ER 404(b).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Summary: Appellant John R. Gardner, Jr. was present in a two-bedroom suite at a Hoquiam motel when police executed a search warrant and found methamphetamine. Gardner was originally charged with possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine. On the day of trial, the State elected to proceed on a single count of simple possession. Gardner waived a jury and was convicted following a bench trial.

On appeal, Gardner challenges the sufficiency the evidence presented at trial to prove actual or constructive possession of methamphetamine found during the search. Specifically, Gardner contends that the State failed to establish his dominion and control over the premises where the drugs were found.

Gardner contends the trial court erroneously denied his motion to suppress physical evidence obtained under a search warrant that was issued without probable cause. Specifically, the warrant affidavit did not meet either prong of the *Aguilar-Spinelli* test for any of the three informants upon whose hearsay the magistrate relied. The affidavit demonstrated neither a basis of knowledge nor the informants' credibility under the particular circumstances.

Gardner challenges the sufficiency of the affidavit to support a warrant if the objectionable material is excised.

Gardner also contends the trial court erroneously denied his *Franks* motion to void the warrant based on the affiant's reckless or intentional omission of pertinent information from the affidavit. Gardner challenges the trial court's impartiality.

Finally, Gardner challenges the trial court's erroneous ER 404(b) ruling whereby the court admitted and relied upon irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence of uncharged offenses.

Facts: On August 26, 2011, Hoquiam police patrol sergeant Jeremy Mitchell obtained a warrant to search Room 9 at the Snore and Whisker Motel in Hoquiam, Washington, based on an affidavit that included the following facts. CP 17-22.

On August 24, 2011, Frank Wirshup, a homeless resident of Hoquiam, stole a \$34 tool from an Ace Hardware store. CP 20; 1/25 RP 3. On the following day, August 25th, the police viewed a store surveillance video recognized Wirshup. It was not until the day after that, on August 26th, that Mitchell tracked Wirshup to his tent in the woods and arrested him. CP 20; 1/25 RP 3. Wirshup admitted stealing the tool on August 24 and said he had sold it to a person called Jonny Five at Room 9 of the Snore and Whisker Motel. 1/25 RP 3-4. Without explanation, Officer Mitchell claimed he knew "Jonny Five" was a nickname for Appellant, John R. Gardner. CP21; 1/25 RP 4.

Mitchell alleged that Wirshup signed a written statement that he saw some methamphetamine in the motel room along with a digital scale and packaging materials, that he had bought meth from “Jonny Five” in the past, and that he had personal knowledge that he sold meth to others. CP 20. The affidavit asserts that Wirshup signed a written statement. CP 21. But the affidavit does not state any basis for this knowledge, such as when and where or how Wirshup had engaged in or witnessed any such transaction. CP 20.

Mitchell claimed to have typed up a statement for Wirshup because he could not read or write. 1/25 RP 5. He conceded that he knew Wirshup could not read and that Wirshup reminded him of this when he instructed Wirshup to read the statement and sign that it was correct. Instead of reading the statement to Wirshup, however, Mitchell simply instructed Wirshup to do his best. 1/25 RP 26, 28-29. Later, Wirshup provided a sworn statement to the defense investigator in which he denied having told the police he saw any drugs. CP 7, para 11; CP 16. Wirshup testified that he is a heroin addict and has no interest in methamphetamine. 1/25 RP 24.

In addition, Mitchell failed to mention in the affidavit that Wirshup had several convictions for crimes of dishonesty. Mitchell claimed he did not think this was relevant. 1/25 RP 7.

The affidavit alleged that Mitchell had received corroborating information from two police informants. One, Officer Dayton, claimed to have investigated Gardner for suspected drug activity in the past. 1/25 RP 4. Currently, however, other than observing what he deemed an excessive number of visitors, Dayton's investigations had come to naught. The second police informant, Detective Bradbury, provided hearsay information regarding his own fruitless investigation of Gardner. CP 21.

Finally, the affidavit stated that one week earlier, on August 19, 2011, Mitchell had investigated a parking violation at the Snore and Whisker, and that Gardner had told him he occupied Room 9. 1/26 RP 4. The affidavit did not claim that Mitchell had any evidence that Gardner rented Room 9. CP 21.

A judge issued a search warrant based on this affidavit. CP 25.

Mr. Gardner was present in Room 9 when the police executed the warrant. They broke down the door with a battering ram, immediately arrested Gardner, then searched the room. 1/31 RP 48-49. In a second bedroom, they found a baggy of methamphetamine in a laundry hamper. 1/31 RP 56, 71. In the main bedroom were a set of digital scales and some small baggies. 1/31 RP 52-54. Nowhere in the entire suite did police find a single item of evidence connecting Mr. Gardner with the

premises. 1/31 RP 65. They did find identification for a person called Carmella Brooks, a known methamphetamine addict. 1/31 RP 63.

Gardner moved to suppress the physical evidence based on lack of probable cause for the warrant. He also filed a *Franks* motion, claiming that the warrant affidavit included reckless or intentional material omissions and falsehoods. CP 5-23.

Gardner was tried on a single count of possession of methamphetamine. CP 51. The court admitted the methamphetamine and also the packaging materials and scales. 1/31 RP 41-42. Gardner was convicted following a bench trial of one count of possessing methamphetamine and received a standard range sentence. CP 78, 80.

He filed this timely appeal.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

ISSUE 1. THE FOLLOWING FACTS ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

A. *Suppression Findings*

Statement of disputed facts: Did Frank Wirshup tell law enforcement that he had seen methamphetamine in Gardner's motel room and that he had purchased methamphetamine from Gardner in the past? CP 64.

This grossly oversimplifies the disputed facts. Gardner filed a broad challenge to the warrant for lack of probable cause. Suppression Motion CP 5, 8. It was the defendant's position that "the Affidavit for search Warrant failed to establish probable cause to issue the Search warrant for various reasons [] discussed below." CP 8, para. 14.

Gardner admitted merely that Officer Mitchell alleged that Wirshup gave a written statement, not that Wirshup did so or that the statement included any particular fact. CP 6, para 6. Gardner also challenged the failure of the warrant affidavit to include any evidence establishing Wirshup's veracity as required by *Aguilar-Spinelli* where, as here, a warrant affidavit relies solely on hearsay. CP 7, 9.

Gardner further claimed that Mitchell ran a background check on Wirshup, then recklessly or deliberately omitted criminal history that affirmatively demonstrated Wirshup's inherent lack of credibility. CP 7, para. 10; CP 13, para. B. Gardner also challenged Mitchell's failure to advise the magistrate of circumstances establishing a motive for Wirshup to provide false information. CP 7, para. 10. Moreover, even supposing *arguendo* that Wirshup did claim to have observed illegal activity in Room 9, Gardner disputed whether Wirshup's self-interest in currying

favor with Mitchell diminished confidence in his credibility. CP 12, para. ii.

Gardner challenged the admission of evidence unrelated to the possession of methamphetamine charge. Please see Issue 11.

Gardner also challenged the sufficiency of Mitchell's affidavit to establish that Gardner exercised dominion and control over the premises on August 26, 2012, the date the warrant was sought. CP 7, para. 12. Please see Issue 2.

The suppression court did not enter any findings on these disputed facts. CP 64. If the trial court does not enter a finding on a disputed fact, this Court must presume the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain its burden on the issue. *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997).

Sole Finding as to Disputed Facts. Frank Wirshup told law enforcement that he had seen methamphetamine in Gardner's motel room and had purchased methamphetamine from Gardner in the past and signed a written statement to that effect. CP 64.

The record does not support this finding.

CrR 3.6 suppression findings must be supported by substantial evidence in the record. *State v. Ross*, 106 Wn. App. 876, 880, 26 P.3d 298 (2001). Substantial evidence is sufficient evidence to persuade a rational, fair-minded person of the truth of the finding. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d

641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). Here, the State failed to meet even a preponderance of the evidence standard.

Gardner's evidence included a statement written and signed by Mr. Wirshup under penalty of perjury refuting Officer Mitchell's unsupported claims in the affidavit. CP 7, para. 11; CP 16. This shifted the burden to the State to produce some sort of substantial evidence that Wirshup said what Mitchell said he did, such as by putting the alleged writing into evidence. The State produced nothing except Mitchell's bald assertions. Therefore, Gardner successfully demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that the dispositive allegation in Mitchell's affidavit was false. Accordingly, the allegation attributed to Wirshup should have been stricken and the warrant vacated.

B. *Bench Trial Findings*

Finding 1, CP 74. The defendant was originally charged with possession with intent to deliver.

This is true, but completely irrelevant to any fact at issue. CP 51 (amended Information); Conclusion 2, CP 76 (elements of possession). The trial court should have disregarded it entirely and this Court should do likewise. Instead, the court hand-wrote and initialed the finding regarding the pre-amendment Information. CP 74. This demonstrates that the trial court was unable to distinguish between facts relevant to the charged

offense of possession and extraneous facts regarding the uncharged offense of intent to deliver. The failure of the fact-finder to grasp this distinction is prejudicial on its face.

Finding 2, CP 74-75. Gardner was residing in the motel room when the police executed the search warrant.

The record does not support a finding that Gardner resided in the room. Neither the warrant affidavit nor anything produced by the State in the suppression proceedings or at the bench trial includes a shred of evidence that Gardner paid rent, or that a single identifying item was found in the room to prove that he resided there. All the police knew was that Gardner “was associated with the room.” Finding 2, CP 75.

First, being “associated” with premises is insufficient to establish constructive possession. Second, even residing at the searched premises is insufficient. The dispositive question before the fact finder was whether Gardner exercised dominion and control over the room. Evidence of that was entirely lacking. Please see Issue 2.

Finding 3, CP 75. The parties stipulated to the admissibility of the methamphetamine.

This is directly contrary to the entire record. The defense consistently challenged the admissibility of all the physical evidence because the search warrant lacked probable cause. CP 5-25 (Motion to Suppress & for Franks Hearing). On the day of trial, the defense

unambiguously informed the court of its intent to hold the State to the burden of proving each element beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 46.

The defense stipulated merely that the crystalline substance found in the laundry hamper was methamphetamine. 1/31 RP 77.

Finding 3, CP 75. While executing the warrant, the officers found “packaging material ... , a scale... , drug paraphernalia

This is evidence solely of intent to deliver. It is completely immaterial to the charge the State had to prove, i.e., simple possession. It was highly prejudicial and subject to exclusion under ER 404(b). See Issue 11.

Finding 3, CP 75. While executing the warrant, “the officers found heroin and oxycodone that the defendant has not been charged with.”

As with the finding based on erroneously admitted evidence of the uncharged offense of intent to deliver, the finding based on possession of uncharged substances is immaterial and highly prejudicial. Moreover, unlike the intent evidence, which the trial court erroneously deemed relevant, the trial court actually perceived both the lack of relevance and the extreme prejudice of the ‘other substance’ evidence and instructed the State to exclude the evidence. (RP 42).

Inexplicably, however, the court wrote in this finding and initialed it. This demonstrates that this evidence affected the verdict.

2. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH GARDNER'S DOMINION AND CONTROL OVER THE PREMISES BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Following the bench trial, the court concluded that the State had proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Gardner had dominion and control over Room 9 at the Snore and Whisker Motel. Conclusion 4, CP 76. Neither the evidence nor the court's findings, however, are insufficient to support this conclusion.

To obtain a criminal conviction (by contrast with a search warrant), due process requires the State to prove the essential elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 362, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). Accordingly, a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is of constitutional magnitude and can be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Alvarez*, 128 Wn.2d 1, 13, 904 P.2d 754 (1995); *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 2787, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979).

To survive a sufficiency challenge, the evidence when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict must be sufficient to enable a rational trier of fact to find the elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). "A

claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Nevertheless, when evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence, the reviewing court may not rely on guess, speculation, or conjecture. *State v. Prestegard*, 108 Wn. App. 14, 23, 28 P.3d 817 (2001). The same standard applies regardless of whether the case is tried to a jury or to the court. *State v. Rangel-Reyes*, 119 Wn. App. 494, 499, 81 P.3d 157 (2003), citing *State v. Little*, 116 Wn.2d 488, 491, 806 P.2d 749 (1991).

No Proof of Possession. Possession of a controlled substance may be actual or constructive. *State v. Callahan*, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). Actual possession occurs when an item is physically in the personal custody of the person charged. *State v. Staley*, 123 Wn.2d 794, 798, 872 P.2d 502 (1994). Since Gardner did not have a controlled substance on his person at the time of his arrest, the conviction rested on the alternative ground of constructive possession.

In order to establish constructive possession, the evidence must be sufficient to prove that the accused exercised dominion and control either of the contraband or of the premises where contraband was found. *State v. Staley*, 123 Wn.2d 794, 798, 872 P.2d 502 (1994); *State v. Spruell*, 57 Wn. App. 383, 387, 788 P.2d 21 (1990). The reviewing court looks at the

totality of the circumstances to determine whether substantial evidence establishes circumstances from which a jury could reasonably infer constructive possession. *State v. Partin*, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977). Where dominion and control over the premises is established, there is a rebuttable inference that he also has dominion and control over items within the premises. *State v. Tadeo-Mares*, 86 Wn. App. 813, 816, 939 P.2d 220 (1997).

Mere proximity to contraband is insufficient to establish constructive possession, however. *State v. Jones*, 146 Wn.2d 328, 333, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002). That is, constructive possession of a controlled substance cannot be predicated upon the accused's mere presence on the premises where drugs are found. *State v. Davis*, 16 Wn. App. 657, 659, 558 P.2d 263 (1977). There must be a showing of dominion and control of the premises themselves. *State v. Mathews*, 4 Wn. App. 653, 656, 484 P.2d 942 (1971).

Dominion and control of premises may be inferred from such circumstances as payment of rent or possession of keys. *Davis*, 16 Wn. App. at 659. But mere proof of temporary residence or knowledge of the presence of controlled substances are not sufficient to show dominion and control of the premises. *Davis*, 16 Wn. App. at 659, citing *Callahan*, 77 Wn.2d at 29-31.

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