COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State generally agrees with the Statement of Facts as contained

in appellant' s brief with the following exceptions. 

First of all, there was ample evidence in the record below that

appellant was residing in Room Number 9 at the Snore & Whisker Motel

in Hoquiam. Frank Wirshup told Sergeant Mitchell that he had sold a

stolen Dremel tool to the appellant on August 24, 2011. 1/ 25 RP 3 -4. On

August 19, 2011, Sergeant Mitchell had contacted the appellant at Room

Number 9 of the Snore & Whisker Motel: 

On August 19, Gardner had a vehicle

blocking the alley by his room. I contacted
him in the room, at which point he told me

he was living there .. .

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

of probable cause, and simply to insure that

8



the magistrate had a substantial basis for his or her
decision. 

State v. Steenerson, 38 Wn.App. 722 725, 688 P. 2d 544 ( 1984). 

a) Wirshup' s reliability was established. 

With regard to informant reliability, under the two -part

Aguilar - Spinelli test an affidavit must contain information sufficient to

establish the informant' s trustworthiness based upon the underlying

circumstances and basis of his or her knowledge and must contain

information that establishes the informant's veracity. Aguilar v. Texas, 378

U. S. 108 ( 1964); Spinelli v. U.S., 393 U. S. 410 ( 1969). The affidavit is

insufficient and it fails to meet either prong unless other police

investigation corroborates the informant' s tip. State v. Young, 123 Wn.2d

173, 867 P. 2d 593 ( 1994). 

i) Basis of knowledge. 

In State v. Duncan, 81 Wn.App. 70, 912 P. 2d 1090 ( 1996), it was

held that "[ i] nformation showing the informant personally have seen the

facts asserted and is passing on first hand information satisfies the basis of

knowledge prong." Duncan, at 76. In State v. Murray, 110 Wn.2d 706, 757

P. 2d 487 ( 1988), an anonymous " tipster" stated that he had seen marijuana

growing inside a Montesano residence. He passed this information on to

an informant who told the police what the tipster had said. The Supreme

Court held that "[ h] ere, the basis of knowledge prong is readily satisfied by

9



the tipster's claim that he personally observed marijuana growing in the

basement of the Montesano house. Murray, at 711. 

Clearly the basis of knowledge prong of Aguilar - Spinelli is

satisfied as Wirshup had personal knowledge of the events described in the

affidavit. 

ii) Veracity

The veracity prong is satisfied by showing the credibility of the

informant, or by establishing the facts and circumstances surrounding the

furnishing of the information that support an inference the informant is

telling the truth." State v. McCord, 125 Wn.App. 888, 893, 106 P. 3d 832

2005); State v. Lair, 95 Wn.2d 706, 710, 630 P. 2d 427 ( 1981). " When

the informant is an ordinary citizen rather than a criminal or professional

informant and his identity is revealed to the issuing magistrate, intrinsic

indicia of his liability may be found in his detailed description of the

underlying circumstances of what he observed." McCord, at 893; State v. 

Northness, 20 Wn.App. 551, 557, 582 P. 2d 546 ( 1978). That an informant

is named in the affidavit is one factor to be considered in determining

veracity. McCord, at 893; State v. Duncan, 81 Wn.App. 70, 78, 912 P. 2d

1090 ( 1996). Nor does it really matter that the informant is a " criminal," 

rather than " ordinary citizen," informant. "[ T]he fact that an identified eye

witness informant may also be under suspicion ... has been held not to

vitiate the inference of reliability raised by the detailed nature of the

information in the disclosure of the informant' s identify" State v. 
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Chenoweth, 127 Wn.App. 444, 454, 111 P. 3d 1217 ( 2005) quoting

Northness at 558 ( citing United States v. Banks, 539 F.2d 14, 17 ( 9th Cir. 

1976) ( fact that named, untested, nonprofessional informer was under

investigation based on suspicion of being involved in drug traffic was

immaterial to question a reliability of informant where he voluntarily

provided detailed eye witness report of defendant' s drug dealing). 

The court in Lair noted that the veracity prong of the Aguilar - 

Spinelli test may be satisfied " if the magistrate is provided sufficient facts

to determine that the informant' s information on the specific occasion is

reliable." Lair at 710. The court framed the inquiry, " was the information

furnished under circumstances giving reasonable assurances of

trustworthiness? If so, the information is reliable, not withstanding the

ignorance as to its source' s credibility." Lair at 710 quoting Thompson v. 

State, 16 Md.App. 560, 566, 298 A.2d 458 ( 1973). 

One factor to consider is whether the statement was made against

the informant' s penal interest. " Since one who admits criminal activity to

a police officer faces possible prosecution, it is generally held to be a

reasonable inference that a statement raising such a possibility is a credible

one." Lair at 711. Wirshup admitted to stealing the Dremel tool and then

selling it to Gardner. He also admitted, according to the affidavit, to

having seen methamphetamine and drug paraphernalia in the motel room. 

He also told Mitchell that he had purchased methamphetamine from

Johnny Five" in the past. CP 20 -21. 
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Another factor to be considered in establishing veracity is whether

or not the information provided by the informant is corroborated by other

evidence or statements. Lair at 711 -712. Here, Mitchell knew that

Johnny Five" was the nickname for John Gardner. Mitchell was also

aware that he was staying in room #9 at the Snore & Whisker as he had

contacted him in that room a week prior to talking to Wirshup. Mitchell

was advised by Officer Dayton of the Hoquiam Police Department that

there was " numerous short stay foot and vehicle traffic at Gardner's room." 

Dayton was familiar with Gardner from his time in the Drug Task Force

and that the Drug Task Force had done numerous cases on Gardner

throughout the years. In addition, Detective Bradbury of the Drug Task

Force advised that the Drug Task Force had made numerous controlled

buys of methamphetamine from Gardner between October of 2010 and

April of 2011. CP 21. 

Also, the fact that Wirshup is named in the affidavit is another

factor that can be considered in determining the veracity of the informant: 

When, however, there is an underlying
factual basis for the statements, or other

indications of reliability, the additional fact
that an informant is named is at least more

helpful than no name at all and may be one
circumstance contributing to a conclusion
that the information in the affidavit was
reliable. 

Lair at 712 -713; State v. Sieler, 95 Wn.2d 43, 48, 621 P. 2d 1272 ( 1980). 

Given the foregoing, the veracity prong of Aguilar - Spinelli has

been satisfied in this case, and the affidavit established probable cause. 
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4. Wirshup' s criminal history was immaterial to the
determination of probable cause. 

A police informant' s criminal record or criminal status is not

material to finding probable cause to issue a search warrant based upon

information provided by the informant. State v. Taylor, 74 Wn.App. 111, 

872 P. 2d 53 ( 1994). 

In State v. Taylor, supra, the defense argued that the fact of the

confidential informant criminal history, the fact that he was a drug addict

and the fact that he had pending criminal charges should have been

disclosed to the issuing magistrate. He argued that this constituted both a

material misrepresentation and an omission of relevant facts necessary to

make a determination of probable cause. He further argued that the trial

court should have suppressed the evidence or that he was entitled to a

hearing under Franks v. Delaware, 430 U.S. 154, 155, 156, 57 L.Ed.2d

667, 98 S. Ct. 2674 ( 1978). The Court of Appeals in Taylor held that these

issues were not relevant to the determination of probable cause for

issuance of the warrant: 

Even if the defense had argued pretrial that Taylor' s motive
was a material omission, we would reject that argument on

appeal. In United States v. Strifler, 851 F. 2d 1197 ( 9th Cir. 
1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1032 ( 1989), the defendant
argued, inter alia, that the police should have informed the
magistrate that the informants, who were husband and wife, 

were motivated by their desire to obtain immunity from
prosecution, that the wife was paid for her information and

that the husband was a convicted felon, drug user, and was
under investigation for purchasing methamphetamine
manufacturing equipment. The Circuit Court held that the
omission of these circumstances was immaterial to the

informant' s credibility: 

13



It would have to be a very naive magistrate
who would suppose that a confidential

informant would drop in off the street with
such detailed evidence and not have an
ulterior motive. The magistrate would

naturally have assumed that the informant
was not a disinterested citizen. While the

magistrate was not informed of the

informant' s probity, the magistrate was given
reason to think the informant knew a good

deal about what was going on at
22700 West Deal Road. 

Strifler, 851 F. 2d at 1201. See also United States v. Flagg, 
919 F. 2d 499, 500 -01 ( 8th Cir. 1990) ( the omission of facts
about the informant' s criminal record and possible motive

would not generally mislead magistrates since informants
often have criminal records and supply information to the
government pursuant to plea agreements); State v. 

Garberding, 245 Mont. 356, 362, 801 P. 2d 583, 586 ( 1990) 
that the primary informant was a convicted felon and

received payment for his tip did not cast doubt on his
reliability; therefore, the omission of these circumstances
did not warrant a Franks hearing, because "[ a] . person of

known criminal activity... is not likely to place himself in
such a dubious position unless he is telling the truth "). 

The reasoning applied by the courts in Strifler, Flagg and
Garberding is persuasive. Here, as in those cases, omission
of the informant's criminal record and ulterior motive for

supplying information was not material because informants
frequently have criminal records as well as ulterior or
self - serving motives for divulging the information. 

Taylor, at 120 -121. 

The argument seems to be that by not including Wirshup' s criminal

history in the affidavit, Mitchell was somehow trying to pass Mr. Wirshup

off as someone he is not. The only conclusion that one can come to from

reading the affidavit is that Mr. Wirshup is a thief. Wirshup is in no way

portrayed in the affidavit as an upstanding citizen. 
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In response to similar arguments the court in Chenoweth held as
follows: 

Because Detective King provided Parker' s name to the
commissioner, because Parker made statements against his
penal interest, and because the amount and kind of detail

provided support an inference of reliability, the
commissioner did not abuse her discretion in finding that
probable cause supported the search warrant. 

Chenoweth at 455. 

5. The court conducted an adequate Franks hearing. 

A reckless disregard for the truth is shown where the affiant

entertains serious doubts as to the truth of facts or statements in the

affidavit and " serious doubts" can be shown by actual deliberation on the

part of the affiant or the existence of obvious reasons to doubt the veracity

of the informant or the accuracy of the reports. Chenoweth at 456. 

As has previously been demonstrated an informant' s criminal

history is immaterial to a finding of probable cause in a search warrant. 

Furthermore, the court heard from both Sergeant Mitchell and Frank

Wirshup and considered the circumstances of both Mr. Wirshup' s original

statement to Sergeant Mitchell and his later alleged recantation. The court

concluded that Sergeant Mitchell, in preparing the search warrant affidavit, 

had not made any intentional or material misrepresentations and did not

demonstrate a reckless disregard for the truth. 1/ 25 RP 39. Once again, 

the trier of fact is " free to believe the testimony presented by one side and

disbelieve that presented by the other." Gilmore, supra, at 627. 
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6. The information was not stale. 

In State v. Perez, 92 Wn.App. 1, 863 P. 2d 881 ( 1998), a search

warrant was executed upon a safe house believed to be used by a drug

dealer named " Felix." There was a three -day period between the last

observation described in the affidavit (delivery) and the issuance of the

warrant. The search warrant was then executed at the address four days

after it was issued. ( A total of seven days). In rejecting the argument that

the information was too stale, the Court held as follows: 

A tabulation of the intervening number of
days is not the final determinate of probable
cause; rather, it is just one factor which is

considered along with all the other
circumstances including the nature and
scope of the suspected criminal activity. 

Here, the facts recited in the affidavit

supported an inference that criminal activity
was occurring at 3021 southwest Thistle at
the time the warrant was issued.... [ H] ere

both the information provided by the
information and police observations

suggested that " Felix" was a drug dealer and
that his drug dealing activities were ongoing. 

In the case at hand, the theft of the Dremel tool occurred on August

24, 2011. Wirshup was located and interviewed on August 26, 2011. The

search warrant was obtained and executed that same day. Furthermore, on

the morning of August 26, 2011, Officer Dayton told Sergeant Mitchell

that during the night and early morning hours of August 25 - 26 there was

numerous short stay foot and vehicle traffic at Gardner' s room. CP 21. 
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Furthermore, CrR 2. 3( c) permits a search warrant to be executed up to ten

days after it is issued. This search warrant was executed the same day it

was issued, the same day the information contained in it was obtained and

only two days after the events complained of. Appellant has cited to no

authority that in such circumstances the information was stale. 

7. The reliability of Dayton and Bradbury was established
in the affidavit. 

The level of evidence necessary to establish the reliability prong

of Aguilar- Spinelli depends on whether the informant is a professional or

citizen informant." State v. Bauer, 98 Wn.App. 870, 876, 991 P. 2d 668

2000). Evidence of past reliability ( "track record ") is not strictly required

where the informant is a citizen. State v. Northness, 20 Wn.App. 551, 

556, 582 P. 2d 546 ( 1978). 

To establish the reliability of a citizen
informant, and thus to fulfill the pong of the
Aguilar test, it is only necessary for the
police to interview the informant and
ascertain such background facts as would
support a reasonable inference that he is
prudent" or credible, and without motive to

falsify. In making this determination, the
police may justifiably assume that the
ordinary citizen who has seldom or never
reported a crime to the police may, in fact, 
be more reliable than one who supplies
information on a regular basis. 

In making this evaluation, an ascertainment
of the citizen' s identity will almost
invariably be necessary. However, should
the citizen wish to remain anonymous, as

here, his reliability could certainly be
corroborated by description of him, his
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purpose for being at the locus of the crime, 
and the reason for his desire to remain
anonymous. 

State v. Dobyns, 55 Wn.App. 609, 618, 779 P. 2d 746 ( 1989), citing State

v. Berlin, 46 Wn.App. 587, 591, 731 P. 2d 548 ( 1987) and State v. 

Chatmon, 9 Wn.App. 741, 748, 515 P. 2d 530 ( 1973). 

Police officers are much more like citizen informants than

professional informants. Police officers are presumed to be reliable. State

v. Matlock, 27 Wn.App. 152, 155, 616 P. 2d 684 ( 1980). " Generally, 

affidavits based upon observations of law officers are considered a reliable

basis for the issuance of warrants." Matlock at 155, citing U. S. v. 

Ventresca, 380 U.S. 102, 85 S. Ct. 741, 13 L.Ed. 684 ( 1965). " The

information presented in Officer Davidson' s affidavit should be accorded

a reasonable degree of reliability because an affiant, seeking a search

warrant, can base his information on information in turn supplied him by

fellow officers." State v. Laursen, 14 Wn.App. 692, 695, 544 P. 2d 127

1975). Both of them were named in the affidavit. Their reason for being

at the locus of the crime was apparent from the affidavit and both had

personal knowledge of the facts they related to Sergeant Mitchell. 

8. Issue 10 of appellant' s brief should be disregarded as
the argument in support thereof is not credible and

contains no citation to authority. 

Appellant frames issue number ten as " suspected possession of

stolen property worth $34.00 is not sufficient to establish probable cause
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for a warrant to invade a dwelling." Appellant' s brief at 35. Appellant

cites to no authority nor makes any credible argument that the value of

property has any bearing on whether or not probable cause exists to issue a

search warrant. " Without argument or authority to support it, an

assignment of error is waived." State v. Sublett, 156 Wn.App. 160, 186, 

231 P. 3d 231 ( 2010) citing State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P. 3d

970 ( 2004). 

Once again, just because appellant claims the information is stale, 

without more, does not make it so. 

Appellant goes on to claim that since possession of stolen property

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